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INTRODUCTION

At issue in this case is the proper construction of a statute that carries criminal penalties

for the failure to comply with it. 16 U.S.C. 6811(d). Plaintiffs assert that the Forest Service at

Mt. Evans is unlawfully demanding standard amenity fees, under threat of criminal enforcement,

for access to a 2,600-acre, 15 mile long corridor traversing public lands that it has designated as

a High Impact Recreation Area (HIRA). The Forest Service is doing so in violation of specific

prohibitions enumerated in the Federal Lands Recreation Enhancement Act (REA). 16 U.S.C.

6802(d)(1)(A),(B),(C),(D),(E)&(F); 16 U.S.C. 6802(e); Second Amended Complaint, Dkt. #67.

Plaintiffs request this Court set aside agency action that is not in accordance with the law and

that is in excess of the Service’s statutory authority. 5 U.S.C. 706(2)(A)&(C).    

The Service asserts that it may charge a standard amenity fee anywhere within the Mt.

Evans HIRA notwithstanding the limiting language in the REA. Dkt. 77 ¶ 16. Under the repealed

Recreational Fee Demonstration Program (Fee Demo) that preceded the REA, the Forest Service

had broad authority to charge entrance and recreational fees. The REA provides limited authority

only, allowing a standard amenity fee to be charged under certain circumstances and if certain

required amenities are in place and prohibiting the Service from charging under certain

circumstances and in areas where amenities and federal investments are lacking.

With respect to amenities, the Service has documented only four sites along a 15 mile

stretch of highway where any amenities are in place. Admin. Record #02-02-E00127, #02-02-

E00129 p. 5. None of the sites has all of the six amenities required for charging a standard

amenity fee. One is an overlook, which Plaintiffs assert Congress has specified must be free to

1
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the public, and one is a park owned by the City and County of Denver. Second Amended

Complaint, Dkt. #67 ¶ 52. The HIRA includes all of Summit Lake Park and part of Echo Lake

Park, both owned by the City and County of Denver. Dkt #67 ¶ 47; admitted in Answer, Dkt #77

¶47. The HIRA also includes a state highway corridor to the summit, as well as state-maintained

pullouts along the way. Dkt. #67 ¶¶ 41-43; admitted in Answer Dkt. #77 ¶ 42. The Service

requires the motorist pay a fee if he stops his car anywhere in the HIRA. Admin. Record #03-03-

E00432, #03-04-E00454, #03-04-E00461 p. 7. The Service did not promulgate any rules or

regulations when it created the criteria for designating HIRAs.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Review of agency action in this Court is de novo. In reviewing agency action the

identical standard of review is employed at both the District and Appellate court level. New

Mexico Cattle Growers Assoc. v. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Serv., 248 F.3d 1277 (10  Cir. 2001);th

Santa Fe Energy Prod. Co. v. McCutcheon, 90 F.3d 409 (10  Cir. 1996); Valley Camp of Utah,th

Inc. v. Babbitt, 24 F.3d 1263, 1267 (10  Cir. 1994). th

BACKGROUND

The REA repealed an earlier law, the Recreational Fee Demonstration Program. Fee

Demo, which was extended several times, gave broad discretion to the Service to collect fees for

the admission to and use of outdoor recreation areas. (Pub.L. No. 104-134). Congress received

considerable negative public input over the implementation of the Fee Demo Program wherein

the Service charged admission fees to visitors to recreate at sites where no amenities were

present. (Exhibit 1)

2
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Prior to the last extension of the Fee Demo Program, an amendment was introduced in

Congress to apply the Program to National Parks only. During the debate on the amendment

Congressman Richard Pombo, at that time Chairman of the House Resources Committee, gave

assurances to those opposed to any extensions of the Fee Demo Program that their concerns

regarding the Forest Service’s authority would be addressed in any permanent bill. The

Congressional debate over this amendment focused largely on concerns that the Forest Service

was charging a fee to hikers who park in the forest to go for a walk in the woods and to others

who were out for a drive and stopped along the way. (Exhibit 2)

The last extension of the Fee Demo Program was set to expire in 2005. On October 8,

2003, H.R.3283 was introduced to permanently authorize broad authority to collect “basic

recreation” fees. (H.R. 3283, 108  Cong, 1  Sess. 2003). Before enactment the original bill wasth st

substantially amended 

Rep. Pombo offered an amendment in the nature of a substitution to H.R. 3283 that

ultimately was enacted in December 2004 as the Federal Lands Recreation Enhancement Act

(Pub.L. No. 108-447). Rep. Pombo’s amendment to the proposed REA made changes which

defined “standard amenity” fees and put limitations on the Service’s authority to charge them. 

One reason for Rep. Pombo’s amendment was stated in the Committee Action section of

the House Report on H.R.3283.

“First, the amendment clarified where a fee may or may not be
charged while establishing types of fees. The section was overly
prescriptive to alleviate concerns of those who no longer trust
certain federal land management agencies with the recreation fee
authority. For example, the amendment made clear that the USFS
and the BLM will not be permitted to charge solely for parking,

3
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scenic pullouts and other non developed areas while the NPS and
the FWS may continue to charge an entrance fee.” (Rept. 108-790,
House of Representatives, 108  Cong. (1  Sess. 2003))th st

These limitations were not contained in the earlier Fee Demo Program nor in the original version

of H.R. 3283, but they were enacted and those limitations are what is at issue in the present case.

16 U.S.C. 6802(d)(1)(A),(B),(C),(D),(E)&(F); 16 U.S.C. 6802(e). 

Due to the significant negative public input Congress received after the Service

interpreted and implemented the Fee Demonstration Program, Chairman Pombo issued a press

release following the passage of REA by the House Resources Committee which stated, “This

will put an end to fears that federal land managers cannot be trusted with recreational fee

authority because we lay out very specific circumstances under which these fees can be collected

and spent.” Rep. Greg Walden noted in the same press release, “When a hiker parks on the side

of the road and ventures onto an unmanaged trail with no amenities along the way, they should

certainly not have to pay.” (Exhibit 3) A statement by Rep. Ralph Regula made it clear that the

intent of Congress in passing this bill was to limit the recreation fee authorization on the land

management agencies, eliminate the charging of entrance fees by the Forest Service, and define

where fees can and cannot be charged. (Exhibit 4) 

Following the enactment of the REA the Forest Service, which had been charging an

entrance fee at Mt. Evans under Fee Demo (Admin. Record #01-02-E00012 p. 5), declared the

Mt. Evans corridor to be a High Impact Recreation Area (HIRA). The Service collected standard

amenity fees in exactly the same manner as they had collected an entrance fee under Fee Demo.

No mention of HIRAs is contained in the REA. The Service determined that it could comply

4

Case 1:08-cv-00917-MEH-KMT     Document 112      Filed 12/10/2009     USDC Colorado     Page 10 of 36



with the law merely by covering up the word “entrance” on its signs and printed materials,

installing some picnic tables and continuing business as usual. Admin. Record #02-02-E00129,

p. 4. This final agency action was taken in September 2005, nine months after the REA was

enacted and took effect. 

STATUTE AT ISSUE

16 U.S.C. 6802(f)(4) authorizes the Service to charge a standard amenity fee on federal

lands subject to specific limitations described in 16 U.S.C. 6802(d). Except as limited by 16

U.S.C. 6802(d), 16 U.S.C. 6802(f)(4) authorizes a standard amenity fee only for an area that:

 “(A) provides significant opportunities for outdoor recreation;
 (B) that has substantial Federal investments;  
 (C) where fees can be efficiently collected; and
 (D) that contains all of the following amenities:
 (i)  Designated developed parking.
 (ii) A permanent toilet facility.
 (iii) A permanent trash receptacle.
 (iv) Interpretive sign, exhibit or kiosk.
 (v)  Picnic tables.
 (vi) Security services.”

16 U.S.C. 6802(d)(1) states 

“PROHIBITION ON FEES FOR CERTAIN ACTIVITIES OR
SERVICES 

The Secretary shall not charge any standard amenity recreation fee
or expanded amenity recreation fee for Federal recreational lands
and waters administered by the Bureau of Land Management, the
Forest Service, or the Bureau of Reclamation under this chapter for
any of the following: 

(A) Solely for parking, undesignated parking, or picnicking along
roads or trailsides. 

5
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(B) For general access unless specifically authorized under this
section. 

(C) For dispersed areas with low or no investment unless
specifically authorized under this section. 

(D) For persons who are driving through, walking through, boating
through, horseback riding through, or hiking through Federal
recreational lands and waters without using the facilities and
services. 

(E) For camping at undeveloped sites that do not provide a
minimum number of facilities and services as described in
subsection (g)(2)(A). 

(F) For use of overlooks or scenic pullouts.”

16 U.S.C. 6802(e)(2) provides that “The Secretary shall not charge an entrance fee for

Federal recreational lands and waters managed by the Bureau of Land Management, the Bureau

of Reclamation, or the Forest Service.”

16 U.S.C. 6811(c) provides that the registered owner and any occupant of a vehicle

charged with a nonpayment violation involving the vehicle shall be jointly liable for penalties

imposed under this section, unless the registered owner can show that the vehicle was used

without the registered owner’s express or implied permission.

16 U.S.C. 6811(d) provides that the failure to pay a recreation fee established under this

Act shall be punishable as a Class A or Class B misdemeanor, except that in the case of the first

offense of nonpayment, the fine imposed may not exceed $100, notwithstanding section 3571(e)

of Title 18, United States Code. 

6
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ARGUMENT 

I. Rules Governing the Interpretation of Statutes Favor Plaintiffs’ Interpretation As

No Deference Is Due the Service When Criminal Penalties Attach to Plaintiffs’

Conduct.

While the case before this Court is civil in nature, the underlying issue is the

interpretation of a statute that carries criminal penalties. The question therefore is: Can Plaintiffs

be charged with a Class A or Class B misdemeanor for failure to pay a fee in violation of the

REA when their conduct was, as one example, to park their cars and have picnic along the road?

If the answer is no, the Service does not have the statutory authority to demand fees and threaten

prosecution. 

The Service may argue that its interpretation is entitled to deference pursuant to Chevron

USA, Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, 467 U.S. 837 (1984) even though it did not

engage in the rulemaking process. Chevron-style deference, however, only applies to regulatory

agencies’ interpretations of regulatory statutes. Accordingly, courts have refused to show

Chevron-style deference to interpretations of statutes that carry criminal penalties. Chevron

deference requires a court to defer to a “permissible” interpretation of a statute an agency is

required to administer. Id. at 842-43. 

The courts have expressly rejected the applicability of Chevron deference in criminal

cases. Crandon v. United States, 494 U.S. 152, 177 (1990); Seneca-Cayuga Tribe of Oklahoma

v. Nat’l Indian Gaming Commission, 327 F.3d 1019, 1031 (10  Cir. 2003); United States v.th

McGoff, 831 F.2d 1071, 1077 (D.C. Cir.1987). 

7

Case 1:08-cv-00917-MEH-KMT     Document 112      Filed 12/10/2009     USDC Colorado     Page 13 of 36



Laws authorizing criminal penalties must be clear and precise so as to give the average

citizen fair warning as to what conduct is proscribed. Applying broad principles of deference

defeats this need for specificity. The rule of law requires that criminal law be clear which in turn

implies that there is no room for interpretive flexibility commonly associated with deference to

administrative agencies’ interpretations of civil statutes. United States v. McGoff, supra at 1077.

In the instant case Congress has enacted a statute that authorizes the government to charge a

citizen with either a Class A or Class B misdemeanor which can carry a penalty of up to one year

in jail. 16 U.S.C. 6811. 

Chevron deference only applies when the court is interpreting a statute that the agency

administers. The Forest Service does not administer the statute with respect to criminal

prosecutions. This is precisely why the courts have clearly rejected the applicability of Chevron

deference in criminal cases. 

The Department of Justice, which handles criminal prosecutions for the federal

government and in so doing interprets criminal statutes, nevertheless does not “administer”

criminal law. Crandon, supra at 177 (Scalia, J. concurring); United States v. Welch, 327 F.3d

1081, 1092 (10  Cir. 2003); Dolfi v. Pontesso, 156 F.3d 696, 700 (6  Cir.1998). Courts are theth th

proper administrators of federal criminal statutes. Crandon, supra at 177. If there are ambiguities

in a criminal statute, they must be resolved in favor of the criminal defendant. United States v.

Granderson, 511 U.S. 39, 54 (1994). In addition, as Justice Scalia pointed out in Crandon, supra

at 177, government prosecutors have an incentive to construe criminal statutes broadly. This

8
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means that to defer to such interpretations would “replace the doctrine of lenity with a doctrine

of severity.” 

In Crandon, the Supreme Court rejected Chevron and applied the rule of lenity even

though the government pursued civil remedies against the petitioners, since deciding the case

involved evaluating the government’s interpretation of the underlying criminal law. Central in

Crandon was whether or not Boeing, Inc. and several former employees violated the law when

severance pay was provided to the employees prior to their employment with the federal

government. A provision in the law precluded anyone outside the government from paying, and

any federal government employee from receiving, any contribution to or supplementation of

salary as compensation for services rendered as a government employee. The Court rejected the

government’s broader interpretation and held in favor of Boeing and its former employees. In

doing so, the court concluded that because the law is set forth in a criminal statute, it is

appropriate to apply the rule of lenity in resolving any ambiguity in the ambit of its coverage.

The Court has also applied the rule of lenity in cases interpreting regulatory statutes that

have both civil and criminal consequences. United States v. Thompson/Center Arms Co. 504

U.S. 505 (1992); Leocal v. Ashcroft, 543 U.S. 1 (2004); Clark v. Martinez, 543 U.S. 371, 377

(2005) (Scalia, J., concurring); United States v. Welch, 327 F.3d 1081, 1092 (10  Cir. 2003);th

Dolfi v. Pontesso, supra. We note that the Ninth Circuit has held in Pacheco-Camacho v. Hood,

272 F.3d 1266 (9th Cir. 2001) that the rule of lenity “does not prevent an agency from resolving

statutory ambiguity through a valid regulation.” In such a case, “the regulation gives the public

sufficient warning to ensure that nobody mistakes the ambit of the law or its penalties.” Id. at

9
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1272. There are a few court decisions that have recognized Chevron-style deference in the

interpretation of criminal statutes rendered by the agency, when rules have been properly

promulgated pursuant to a comprehensive statutory scheme. In Alliance for Cannabis

Therapeutics v. D.E.A., 930 F.2d 936, 939 (D.C. Cir. 1991) the court extended Chevron

deference to a formal order by the Drug Enforcement Administration classifying marijuana

under controlled substances. In U.S. v. O’Hagan, 521 U.S. 642 (1997) the court deferred to the

Securities and Exchange Commission’s interpretation of “fraudulent” within the context of the

statute. These cases were decided in the context of Congress having authorized the agency to

prescribe legislative rules wherein there were comprehensive statutes addressing the subject

matter and the rules subject to review were part of that statutory scheme. No cases have been

found that have held that an agency is entitled to deference when criminal penalties are at issue

or to interpret an entire statute without the rulemaking process. 

There were no rules or regulations promulgated in the case before this Court. Further,

even if the REA were to be analyzed outside of the rules pertaining to the interpretation of

statutes carrying criminal penalties, this Court should not accord deference as argued below.

II. Courts Must Uphold Unambiguous Statutes. 

Even if the court were to rule that the agency has authority to interpret a statute with

criminal penalties, it is well settled that courts do not defer to agency interpretations if the

statutory language is clear. New Mexico Cattle Growers Assoc. v. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Serv.,

supra; Mortensen v. County of Sacramento, 368 F.3d 1082 (9th Cir. 2004). Under Chevron the

court reiterated that if Congress has directly spoken on the specific issue and the language is

10
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clear, the courts are bound to give effect to the unambiguously expressed intent of Congress. In

the analysis it is the court’s duty to give effect, if possible, to every clause and word of a statute

rather than to emasculate an entire section. Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 173 (1997). It is a

fundamental canon of statutory construction that the words of a statute must be read in their

context and with a view to the place in the overall statutory scheme. Davis v. Michigan

Department of Treasury, 489 U.S. 803, 809 (1989). Defendant Forest Service’s position is that

the specific prohibitions in the REA do not bar it from charging a standard amenity fee for all

access to its designated HIRA. This interpretation gives no force or effect to the prohibitions in

the REA and is in contravention to settled principles of statutory construction. These settled

principles call for courts to harmonize provisions within a given statute so as to give effect to

Congressional intent as clearly articulated in the statute itself, with the legislative history

surrounding its enactment as the background if needed.

III. No Deference Is Due the Service Even If the Court Deems the Statute Ambiguous.

The United States Supreme Court has made it clear that no deference is due when agency

interpretations stem from sources not associated with formal rulemaking or adjudications

undertaken pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act. Interpretations such as those in

opinion letters, like interpretations contained in policy statements, agency manuals and

enforcement guidelines, all of which lack the force of law, do not warrant Chevron-style

deference. Christensen v. Harris County, 529 U.S. 576, 587 (2000); U.S. v. Mead Corp., 533

U.S. 218, 235 (2001); New Mexico Cattle Growers Assoc. v. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Serv., supra.

In Mead, the court addressed the issue of whether or not U.S. Customs classification rulings

11
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should be accorded Chevron deference. The court ruled that Chevron deference was not

authorized. In doing so it stated, “where it is in doubt that Congress actually intended to delegate

particular interpretive authority, Chevron is inapplicable.” Id. at 229. The court went on to say

“…it is fair to assume generally that Congress contemplated administrative language with the

force of law when it provides for a relatively formal administrative procedure tending to foster

fairness and deliberation that should underlie a pronouncement of such force.” Id. at  230. 

In the instant case, there is no indication that Congress delegated authority to the Service

to define and interpret the limiting language in the REA in such a way that emasculates the very

provisions that were enacted in order to limit agency discretion. In fact, the Secretary of

Agriculture acknowledged, when declining to promulgate rules implementing the REA, that

there was no reason to do so since the Service had no discretion and the Act was sufficiently

prescriptive in nature. (Exhibit 5) Yet following the enactment of the REA, the Service exercised

considerable discretion by defining and designating standard amenity fee areas called HIRAs,

which are not specifically mentioned in the REA, and giving no weight to or explanation for

bypassing the limiting language at 16 U.S.C. 6802(d) and (e).

Furthermore, in Christensen v. Harris County, supra, the Supreme Court determined that

agency enforcement guidelines are not to be accorded Chevron deference. In Mead, the court did

nothing to alter that decision since it determined, “In sum, Customs classification rulings are best

treated like interpretations contained in policy statements, agency manuals and enforcement

guidelines.” Id. at 234 (citing Christensen, at 587). Since both Mead and Christensen view

enforcement guidelines as not entitled to Chevron deference, this Court is not required to uphold
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an agency’s “permissible” interpretation of an ambiguous statute. The agency’s interpretation of

the REA is not made with the force of law such as is undertaken, generally, pursuant to an

administrative adjudication or through formal procedures pursuant to the Administrative

Procedures Act. (See New Mexico Cattle Growers Assoc. v. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Serv., supra.) 

The only reference to the REA as authority for establishing “high impact recreation

areas” and bypassing Congressional limitations is contained in an interim guideline, and in

references contained in the administrative record. Hence, the Service’s interpretation is entitled

to no deference, even if the Court were to determine that the statute was ambiguous. In any

event, neither the guidelines nor the references in the administrative record analyze the meaning

of any of the limiting provisions within the context of the overall statutory scheme.

In the instant case, no regulations have been promulgated and Plaintiffs assert that the

clear language of the law authorizes them, without charge, to park along the state highway on

state property, to take a hike into the wilderness, to park at and enjoy the overlooks and scenic

pullouts, and to visit City- and County-owned parks. The REA is not ambiguous with respect to

the fee prohibitions since it clearly spells out the prohibitions even in areas that could otherwise

charge a standard amenity fee. 16 U.S.C. 6802(d)(1). The Forest Service’s Region 2 official

appeared to concur that the limiting language was meant to apply to the Mt. Evans’ HIRA when

she issued directives to staff that fees should apply only to those actually using amenities at

developed sites. (Admin. Record #02-02-E00128)

IV. Final Agency Action at Mt. Evans Is Not in Accord with Forest Service Directives.

The Service at Mt. Evans took final agency action to implement its interpretation of the
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REA in September 2005. Admin. Rec. #02-02-E00129. The action it took at that time was to

cover up and eventually eliminate the word “entrance” from signs and other materials and to

install some picnic tables. The Service designated the area as a HIRA and it provided a chart

showing that some—but not all six—amenities exist at four discrete locations within its

designated HIRA: Lower Goliath, Mt. Evans Summit/Overlook, City and County of Denver

Summit Lake Park and Upper Goliath. Admin. Record #02-02-E00127, #02-02-E00129 p. 5.

The Service continued to charge a fee for motorists entering the HIRA, despite

Congress’s specific requirement that persons must be allowed, without charge, to travel through

the area without stopping to use any amenities, and that no entrance fee can be charged. 16

U.S.C. 6802(d)(1)(D); 16 U.S.C. 6802(e).

When the Mt. Evans staff took action in September 2005, they had been on notice since

July 2005 by the Region 2 official that they needed to “be very careful about what we do” in

HIRAs. She said “Make sure you read the law and interim direction to make sure you are not

charging for activities that the Act explicitly says you can’t charge for. Remember that this law

is very focused on developed sites and special services.” She also told them “Keep in mind that

if someone stops along the way to have a picnic, there is no fee…”. Admin. Rec. #02-02-

E00128.

The Region 2 official also acknowledged that the law authorizes free travel along the

road. However, she directed staff not to “advertise” this fact but to permit free access only if

someone asks. This advice was given even though the REA requires notice to the public with

respect to standard amenity fees. 16 U.S.C. 6803(e). By not advertising the prohibitions in REA
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on where standard amenity fees cannot be charged, the provisions authorizing the public’s right

to enter the area, park and picnic along the roads, hike into the wilderness, and visit overlooks

free of charge were not to be made available to the public unless they already know what the law

provided in sufficient detail to inquire about free entry. Admin. Record #02-02-E00128. Even

though the Service now concedes the fact that nonstop travel must be allowed at no charge, this

information was not included in the training materials provided to fee station staff for the 2005,

2006, or 2007 seasons and thus was not communicated to the visiting public. The operating

manuals for those seasons all stated, “Fee Structure - What Fees Do We Charge? Everyone

visiting the Mount Evans corridor via the Mt. Evans Road must pay an amenity fee unless they

are legally or administratively excused from paying.” Admin. Record #03-01-E00159, #03-02-

E00242, #03-03-E00359. 

The public was not informed that free nonstop travel without using any amenities was

authorized by the REA until after the Colorado Department of Transportation concluded

negotiations with the Service for a new Memorandum of Understanding for use of the fee

collection booth in the State Highway 5 Right of Way. In that 2007 Memorandum, the Service

agreed to erect a sign advising the public that “Parked Vehicles Must Display A Valid

Recreation Pass.” Admin. Record #04-02-E00587, #05-02-E00598. Only in 2008 was an

additional sign erected stating “Travel Non-Stop on Road No Charge.” Answer, Dkt #77 ¶ 37.

Only in 2008 was the operating manual used by fee station staff updated to say “Everyone

visiting the Mount Evans corridor via the Mount Evans Road must pay an amenity fee unless
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they are legally or administratively excused from paying (driving the highway nonstop).”

Admin. Record #03-04-E00461 p. 7, [emphasis added.]

Despite the July 2005 instructions from the Region 2 official to Forest Service staff that

only the use of developed sites and services should require a fee, visitors to Mt. Evans continue

to be charged if they stop their vehicle anywhere within the HIRA for any reason. Scherer

Declaration, Exhibit 6; Admin. Record #03-03-E00432, #03-04-E00454, #03-04-E00461 p. 7.

V. Defendant Forest Service Has Not Acted in Accordance with the Law.

A. The allegations setting forth the Service’s violations of the REA are articulated in

Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint and are herein incorporated by reference.

Dkt. #67. 

B. The Service’s implementation of REA at Mt. Evans does not give effect to the

limiting language in the REA. 

The intent of Congress was to authorize a standard amenity fee for the use of certain

defined standard amenities. The wording “standard amenity” was intentionally used in the final

version of REA instead of the term “basic recreation fee” which had appeared in the original

version, to make it clear that the fee was not for general recreation and travel on federal lands,

but for the use and enjoyment of sites that contain specific required amenities. Likewise, the

prohibitions at 16 U.S.C. 6802(d) and (e) were intended to ensure that the public would not be

charged in places that lack the required amenities or for entrance to National Forest lands.

(Exhibit 3; Exhibit 4)
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Despite the REA’s limiting language, the Forest Service charges a fee for all activities

except nonstop travel anywhere within the Mt. Evans HIRA, including visitors parked within the

state highway right of way, in City- and County-owned Parks, and at overlooks and scenic

pullouts. Admin. Record #03-03-E00432, #03-04-E00454, #03-04-E00461 p. 7, #05-01-E00593. 

The Service’s implementation of the REA at Mt. Evans gives no force or effect to the

limiting language despite the expressed intent of Congress to address the concerns of the public

that the Service had overly broad discretion under the Fee Demo Program. (Exhibit 1; Exhibit 2)

Absent any preferential deference with respect to the Service’s interpretation, the text, structure,

and history of the REA support Plaintiffs’ position as the more reasonable interpretation since it

gives meaning to the limiting language. 

The implementation of REA by the Service at Mt. Evans is in violation of the following

limiting language in the law: 

1. Violation of 16 U.S.C. 6802(d)(1)(A): No standard amenity fee may be charged

“Solely for parking, undesignated parking, or picnicking along roads or trailsides.”

The Service at the Mt. Evans HIRA charges a standard amenity fee solely for parking,

including parking to have a picnic or for any other reason, as documented by the signs near the

fee station stating “Parked Vehicles Must Display A Valid Recreation Pass.” Answer, Dkt #77 ¶

37; Admin. Record #05-02-E00598.

In the Region 2 official’s email of July 2005 (Admin. Record #02-02-E00128) she

acknowledged that no fee can be charged to those who stop along the roadside to picnic. Yet

visitors to the HIRA are told that if they stop or exit their vehicle for any reason, a fee is due.
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Admin Rec. #03-03-E00432, #03-04-E00454, #03-04-E00461; Scherer Decl. Exhibit 6 ¶¶5, 6, 7.

This limitation is extremely significant in light of the legislative history of the REA wherein

Congress was attempting to address public dissatisfaction with being required to pay a fee

merely to park a car and take a walk or enjoy a view. (Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4) Plaintiffs’

interpretation that the prohibition against charging for parking is to be given effect in a HIRA is

also consistent with the standard amenity fee provisions of the REA in which “designated

developed parking” is one of the six required amenities. 16 U.S.C. 6802(f)(4)(D)(i). Plaintiffs

are entitled to park without charge along the 15 mile travel corridor except at locations where

they are provided with designated developed parking along with the other five “standard”

amenities.

2. Violation of 16 U.S.C. 6802(d)(1)(B): No standard amenity fee may be charged for

“general access unless specifically authorized under this section.” 

By charging a standard amenity fee for everything except nonstop travel anywhere in the

HIRA, with or without amenities nearby, the Service is requiring a fee for general access onto

federal land in violation of the REA. Congress made no mention of HIRAs in the REA nor has it

specifically authorized a deviation to allow a fee for general access. 

3. Violation of 16 U.S.C. 6802(d)(1)(C): No standard amenity fee may be charged for

“dispersed areas with low or no investment unless specifically authorized under this

section.”

The language in this section could not be clearer. No standard amenity fee can be charged

for the use of dispersed areas unless Congress so authorizes. Yet in the interim guidelines the
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Service states that such fees can be charged for dispersed areas if they are located within a

HIRA. Admin. Record #02-01-E00058, Chapter 2 p. 8  ¶C. As noted, Congress never mentions

HIRAs in the REA and has not specifically authorized any exceptions. The Service simply made

an internal decision to carve out an exception without the required Congressional authorization.

The Mt. Evans HIRA is comprised of a 15 mile long corridor along a state highway with

several pullouts on state-maintained property. For most of its length the corridor is adjacent to

the Mt. Evans Wilderness, within which developed facilities do not exist. Admin. Record #05-

01-E00593, #05-02-E00599, #05-02-E00600, #05-02-00601; Scherer Declaration, Exhibit 6 ¶9.

The Service acknowledges that areas adjacent to the HIRA are wilderness and agrees that the Mt.

Evans corridor is bounded by the wilderness. Answer, Dkt. #77 ¶ 60; Admin. Record #01-02-

E00012 p. 3, #03-03-E00323 p. 5, #03-03-E00433 p. 5. However, the Service requires a fee from

persons located on state pullouts who wish to access the wilderness adjacent to the road and far

away from the few amenities that exist within the HIRA. Scherer Declaration, Exhibit 6 ¶¶ 5, 7.

The Service promotes this corridor precisely because it provides convenient wilderness access.

Admin. Record #01-02-E00012 p. 3) Yet the Service, by demanding a fee where no amenities

are in reasonable reach, is charging to access that dispersed wilderness. It does so even though

the visitors are parked on state property. Second Amended Complaint, Dkt #67 ¶ 60. The Service

acknowledges that some areas adjacent to the HIRA are wilderness and agrees that the pullouts

are owned and maintained by the State of Colorado. Answer, Dkt. #77 ¶ 42.

Even though the Service recognizes that the HIRA is bounded by wilderness, it asserts

that persons could have free access elsewhere or get to the wilderness by a different route.
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Answer, Dkt. #77 ¶ 45. However, Congress did not say the Forest Service was permitted to

charge if the public has free opportunities elsewhere. Alternate access points are remote and

cumbersome to access in comparison with State Highway 5. Admin. Record,  #05-01-E00594.

The Service also has no authority to charge for parking on state lands. Therefore when a

car is parked on the state highway right of way, not on federal land, with no federally designated

developed parking and none of the other required amenities nearby, the Service is impermissibly

charging for the use and enjoyment of dispersed areas with low or no investment, which

Congress specified must be accessible for free to the public. 

The wilderness is also immediately adjacent to Summit Lake Park, owned by the City

and County of Denver. This park encompasses the Chicago Lakes Overlook and wilderness

trailheads. The Service impermissibly enforces the payment of a standard amenity fee when

persons are parked at Summit Lake Park to access dispersed areas by leaving blue “notices” on

vehicles that are not displaying a pass. Admin. Record #03-04-E00457 p. 2; Scherer Declaration,

Exhibit 6 ¶ 11.

4. Violation of 16 U.S.C. 6802(d)(1)(D): No standard amenity fee may be charged for

“persons who are driving through, walking through, boating through, horseback

riding through, or hiking through Federal recreational lands and waters without

using the facilities and services.”

The Service’s REA transition plan specifies that the standard amenity fee at the Mt.

Evans HIRA is “charged for Use of Road Corridors. All visitors, age 16 or older, who use
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designated road corridors for travel or for parking must pay a standard amenity fee.” Admin.

Record #02-02-E00129 p. 3.

5. Violation of 16 U.S.C. 6802(d)(1)(E): No standard amenity fee may be charged for

“camping at undeveloped sites that do not provide a minimum number of facilities

and services as described in subsection (g)(2)(A).”

Some visitors who park within the Mt. Evans HIRA are doing so in order to access the

dispersed wilderness on hikes that include overnight stays. The campsites they use during such

multi-day trips are within the designated Mt. Evans Wilderness where no facilities or services

are provided. By requiring them to pay a fee to park their vehicle overnight, the Service is

charging for camping at undeveloped sites.

6. Violation of 16 U.S.C. 6802(d)(1)(F): No standard amenity fee may be charged for

 “the use of overlooks or scenic pullouts.”

Plaintiffs allege that the summit at Mt. Evans is an overlook. Second Amended

Complaint, Dkt. #67 ¶43. Defendants do not deny that the Summit is an overlook, instead

characterizing it as a “Developed Interpretive Site” without defining that term, which does not

appear in REA. Answer, Dkt. #77 ¶43. Defendants do deny that there are any overlooks or scenic

pullouts along the road leading to the summit. Answer, Dkt. #77 ¶53. Defendants describe the

summit as having two “viewing platforms” and state “The view from the top of Mount Evans

encompasses Longs Peak, Pikes Peak, the Continental Divide, and the Denver metropolitan

area.” Admin. Record #01-02-E00012 p. 11-12. Additionally, the Summit at Mt. Evans is listed
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as an overlook in the Service’s chart of developed sites on Mt. Evans. Admin. Record #02-02-E00127.

Plaintiffs also allege that overlooks exist at Summit Lake Denver Mountain Park. This is

confirmed by the Service’s description of the Park as containing “viewing points.” Admin.

Record #03-03-E00323 p. 4, #03-03-E00433 p. 4.  Plaintiffs cannot be charged for visiting the

overlook, for parking therein or for traveling thereto pursuant to the limitations placed on the

Service by Congress. 

Plaintiffs also allege that scenic pullouts are scattered along the state highway. Dkt. #67 ¶

41. Defendants deny that these are scenic pullouts although they admit they are used by the

public for recreational viewing. Answer Dkt. #77¶ 42. Colorado State Highway 5 is a federally

designated scenic byway, presumably designated as such because of the opportunities to enjoy

the vistas enroute. The Service, however, advises the Plaintiffs and the public that they must pay

to stop anywhere in the HIRA. Hence, unless Plaintiffs and others pay the fee they cannot get out

of their cars to enjoy the scenery from these state-maintained pullouts. 

7. Violation of 16 U.S.C. 6802(e): The Service may not charge an “entrance fee.” 

The standard amenity fee at the Mt. Evans HIRA is implemented as a de facto entrance

fee since it is charged for all access to the area except for non-stop travel. Visitors are told that if

they exit their vehicle for any reason they are “entering the area” and must pay the fee. Scherer

Declaration Exhibit 6 ¶7. Except for the policy begun in 2007 of allowing free nonstop travel,

the Mt. Evans HIRA fee implementation is identical to what was in place under the Fee Demo

Program, which did authorize entrance fees. The Service’s actions to comply with this provision
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consist solely of covering up the word “entrance” on signs and eliminating it from other visitor

materials. Admin. Record #02-02-E00129, p. 4.

C. Service Threatens Prosecution. 

Plaintiffs allege that the Service threatens prosecution for failure to pay the standard

amenity fee at the Mt. Evans HIRA.  Dkt. #67 ¶¶ 16, 17, 24, 25, 48. The Service denies that it

threatens prosecution. Dkt. 77 ¶ 16, 17, 21, 24, 25, 48.

The Service advises persons at the fee station that they are required to pay a fee. Admin.

Record #03-03-E00432; Scherer Declaration Exhibit 6. Signs at the fee station advise visitors

that if they stop their car a fee must be paid. Admin. Record #05-02-E00598. The Service

advises its staff to place blue notices (Admin. Record #03-04-E00452, #03-04-E00453) on cars

advising them that they are in violation of the law, even at Summit Lake Denver Mountain Park

where the Service acknowledges it does not have authority to issue Violation Notices. Admin.

Record #03-04-E00454 p. 2. Incident Reports are authorized indicating the violation to be a

misdemeanor. Admin. Record #03-01-E00152, #03-01-E00156, #03-01-E00233. Violation

notices are authorized charging commission of a misdemeanor and levying a fine. Admin.

Record #03-02-0E00320, #03-04-E00532. 

The Service now maintains that it does not “enforce” the requirement to pay at Summit

Lake Denver Mountain Park. Answer, Dkt. #77 ¶39. In 2008, presumably after Plaintiffs filed

their action, the Service updated its enforcement operations instructions, explaining to its staff

that the Service does not have the authority to issue violations at Summit Lake Park, but

authorizing the continued threat of prosecution there by the issuing of blue notices that advise
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the public that they are violating the law. Admin. Record #03-04-E00457 p.2, #03-04-E00452,

#03-04-E00453. While the Service may not have recently prosecuted anyone parked at Summit

Lake in criminal court, it continues to notify visitors that they are in violation of federal law and

tell them that they have 14 days to pay. Scherer Declaration Exhibit 6 ¶ 11; Admin. Record #03-

04-E00452, #03-04-E000453, #03-04-E00454. If the Service does not have any authority or

power to bring federal court action against a person not paying within the 14 days, it does not

have any authority or power to require payment, threaten them, or to advise them that they are

violating federal law, a misdemeanor. In order to demand and threaten federal criminal action

there must be an underlying federal law to prosecute. However, the Service now acknowledges

that it does not have the power to invoke the provisions of the REA at the Summit Lake Denver

Mountain Park. Charging a standard amenity fee on non-federal property where there are no

federal amenities also prevents free general access and access to dispersed areas, which are

required by the REA.

With respect to both State of Colorado and City and County of Denver property, any

charge or threat of prosecution is outside the jurisdiction of the Service since Congress

authorized a standard amenity fee only on federal land with the required amenities present. (The

issue of attempting to enforce federal law on non-federal property is further discussed below.)

The Service is not representing that the fee is a voluntary donation. Any law-abiding

person would take the actions of the Service as a threat of prosecution for not paying a

demanded fee. 

D. The Service May Not Enforce Federal Law on Non-federal Property Within the
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 Mt. Evans HIRA.

Defendants may argue that the Property Clause and its derivative Forest Service Organic

Act, 16 U.S.C. 551 et seq. provide authority to enforce federal law on State pullouts and City and

County property. The Property Clause of the Constitution provides that “Congress shall have

Power to dispose of and make all needful Rules and Regulations respecting the Territory or other

Property belonging to the United States.” U.S. CONST. art. IV, § 3, cl. 2. In invoking the

Property Clause, the issue is whether federal regulations can be deemed “needful” prescriptions

“respecting” the public lands. This determination is primarily entrusted to the judgment of

Congress. United States v. San Francisco, 310 U.S. 16, 28-30, (1940). 

Generally, protective legislation is authorized to control disruptions occurring on federal

lands. Hunt v. United States, 278 U.S. 96, 99-101 (1928). However, 16 U.S.C. 551 (Organic 

Act), which derives its authority from the Property Clause, authorizes the Service to make rules

and regulations governing the occupancy and use of federal land. This delegation of authority is

far broader than the authority to protect federal land from disruptions.  See U.S. v. Hymans, 463

F.2d 615, (10  Cir. 1972) upholding a regulation against indecent exposure at developedth

recreation sites on federal land. 

With respect to regulating conduct on non-federal land, the authority is limited. Ever

since the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in Camfield v. U.S. ,167 U.S. 518 (1897), it has become

well established that pursuant to the Property Clause, the United States has “power to regulate

conduct on non-federal land when necessary to protect adjacent federal property”. U.S. v.

Lindsey, 595 F.2d 5, 6 (9  Cir. 1979); Stupak-Thrall v. U.S., 70 F. 3d 881 (6  Cir. 1995). Theth th
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authority to regulate when on public land is not the same as the authority to regulate conduct on

non-federal land.

The courts have upheld penalties for building campfires or using motor vehicles on non-

federal lands where those uses threaten national forests or wilderness. U.S. v. Alford, 274 U.S.

264 (1927); Minnesota v. Block, 660 F.2d 1240 (8  Cir. 1981). A regulatory prohibition on duckth

hunting on a state-owned lake within a national forest was upheld since there were findings that

when duck hunting occurs in close proximity to adjacent lands, there is potential danger of

unwarranted intrusion on public lands, injury to federal land users, and disruption of wildlife

migration patterns. U. S. v. Brown, 552 F.2d 817 (8  Cir. 1977).th

The cases upholding federal enforcement on non-federal land relate to situations where a

statute has been enacted authorizing enforcement for a specific reason to protect federal land,

people or wildlife thereon, or where Congress has delegated rulemaking authority to an agency

to promulgate rules having the force of law to accomplish the same result. Nothing in the REA

suggests that its purpose was to protect federal property from conduct occurring on non-federal

property.

The Supreme Court examined the scope of the Property Clause in Kleppe v. New Mexico,

426 U.S. 529 (1976). In Kleppe the court held that a federal act designed to protect horses and

burros on public lands was a constitutional exercise of congressional power under the Property

Clause to the extent it was applied to prohibit a state agency from entering on lands of the United

States and removing wild burros pursuant to state law. Kleppe did not rule on the scope of

authority the Property Clause has to empower the United States to enact regulatory legislation
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protecting federal lands from interference occurring on non-federal public lands, since that issue

was not before the Court. In Kleppe, Congress was protecting wildlife on its own land. However,

the Court’s discussion in Kleppe recognizes, as did prior cases, that when regulation is for the

protection of federal property, “the Property Clause is broad enough to reach beyond territorial

limits.” Id. at 538.  The Court did not say that the Government can regulate on non-federal

property for any reason. While it may have broad authority under the Property Clause and the

Organic Act to regulate conduct and activities on federal property, its power to regulate on non-

federal land is, as the cases have held, limited to situations when there is a connection between

the conduct on non-federal land and the need to protect federal land, persons or wildlife on

federal property. 

The statute in this case does not address the need to protect land, persons or wildlife from

the conduct of persons located on non-federal property. The REA is a law allowing the collection

of fees in certain enumerated circumstances and authorizing prosecution for failure to pay.

Moreover, no rules have been promulgated pursuant to the Organic Act, 16 U.S.C. 551, or the

REA, documenting any necessity to enforce federal law on non-federal land for the purpose of

protecting federal land, or persons or wildlife located on federal land. Further, when the REA

was enacted, the Secretary acknowledged that the REA was the sole authority for the collection

of fees on federal land. Exhibit 3; 16 U.S.C. 6813(d). Even if the Service could invoke 16 U.S.C

551 in order to promulgate a rule pursuant to it, the Forest Service may only regulate in areas

that Congress has specified. Stupak-Thrall,  supra at 887. The REA did not directly or indirectly

authorize the Service to enforce its provisions on non-federal lands.
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The only explanation offered by the Service for charging and enforcing a standard

amenity fee on non-federal property is contained in an extra-record declaration by Paul Cruz

wherein he mused that a person might park on state or city owned land and use federal amenities

without paying. Admin. Record #06-01-E00609. No rules were promulgated and no explanation

was given by Cruz establishing a nexus between a person paying or not paying a fee and the

need to protect federal land, people located on federal land, or wildlife. Furthermore, a simple

view of the Administrative Record’s maps and pictures demonstrates that Summit Lake Denver

Mountain Park has its own toilets and most people park there to access the Park itself or the

adjacent wilderness. Scherer Declaration Exhibit 6 ¶ 2; Admin. Record #03-03-E00323 p. 4,

#03-03-E00433 p. 4. The state pullouts where persons may park are adjacent to the wilderness

and no amenities exist there. Admin. Record #05-01-E00593, #05-02-E00599, #05-02-E00600,

#05-02-E00601; Scherer Declaration Exhibit 6, pp. 7-8. Even if the Court were authorized to

consider the Property Clause as authority, without a statute or rule there is no nexus with respect

to the purpose of the Property Clause of protecting federal land and the purpose of the REA

regulating the collection of fees for the use of standard amenities on federal land.       

E.  The Structure and History of the REA Supports Plaintiffs’ Interpretation.

The enabling authority and the limiting language are cohesively joined in the REA. One

need not look far to piece together the framework of legislative intent. The REA is not lengthy

and does not require reference to other statutes to determine legislative intent.

The REA repealed the recreation fee provisions contained in the Land and Water

Conservation Act and repealed the Fee Demonstration Program in its entirety. 16 U.S.C. 6812.
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The Service offers no legislative history in support of its position. Plaintiffs have introduced as

legislative history, exhibits demonstrating significant public displeasure with the broad

application of the Fee Demonstration Program, excerpts of transcripts wherein the House

debated whether or not the Fee Demonstration Program should only apply to the National Parks,

commitments by leading congressmen to address the concerns expressed in those debates in

subsequent legislation by limiting fee authority, and press releases by members of Congress

promising the public that the REA established clear guidelines and would limit the scope of fee

authority. Exhibits 1, 2, 3, 4. In enacting the REA, with the significant limitations it placed on

the Service, it cannot be said that Congress intended that the Fee Demonstration Program at Mt.

Evans was to be continued substantially intact as it has been. 

Congress wished to ensure that persons can enter the National Forest, park their car and

access dispersed areas and scenic overlooks without paying a fee. They cannot do so today at Mt.

Evans without facing the threat of criminal prosecution.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons cited herein, Plaintiffs respectfully request this Court to find and declare

that the Service did not act in accordance with the provisions of the Federal Lands Recreation

Enhancement Act, and exceeded the scope of its legislative authority, when it designated the Mt.

Evans area as a HIRA and began charging standard amenity fees for being located anywhere

therein, as pled in the prayer for relief in Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint, Dkt. #67.

Plaintiffs request that the Court enjoin the Service from any further implementation of its

policy of charging for all uses except nonstop travel in the Mt. Evans HIRA.
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RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 10  day of December, 2009th

/s/ Mary Ellen Barilotti
Mary Ellen Barilotti (SBN 112549)
Post Office Box 678
Hood River, Oregon 97031
Tel No (541) 386-5576
email: mebarilotti@msn.com
Attorney for Plaintiffs

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO
 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE (CM/ECF)

I hereby certify that on December 10, 2009, I electronically filed the foregoing Brief In Support

of Injunctive and Declaratory Relief with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system,

which will send notification of such filing to the following email addresses:

kathryn.liberatore@usdoj.gov, Efile_nrs.enrd@usdoj.gov

stacey.bosshardt@usdoj.gov, efile_nrs.enrd@usdoj.gov

stephen.taylor@usdoj.gov, andrea.hough@usdoj.gov

USACO.ECFCivil@usdoj.gov

/s/Mary Ellen Barilotti
Mary Ellen Barilotti
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